

On the obstacle problem associated to the Kolmogorov–Fokker–Planck operator with rough coefficients

Francesca Anceschi¹ • Annalaura Rebucci²

Received: 8 September 2023 / Accepted: 26 January 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

This work is devoted to the study of the obstacle problem associated to the Kolmogorov–Fokker–Planck operator with rough coefficients through a variational approach. In particular, after the introduction of a proper anisotropic Sobolev space and related properties, we prove the existence and uniqueness of a weak solution for the obstacle problem by adapting a classical perturbation argument to the convex functional associated to the case of our interest. Finally, we conclude this work by providing a one-sided associated variational inequality, alongside with an overview on related open problems.

 $\textbf{Keywords} \quad \text{Kolmogorov equation} \cdot \text{Weak regularity theory} \cdot \text{Ultraparabolic} \cdot \text{Obstacle} \\ \text{problem}$

Mathematics Subject Classification 35Q84 · 35A15 · 47J20 · 35D30 · 35R03

Contents

1	Introduction
	1.1 Motivation and background
	1.2 Functional setting
	1.3 Main results
	1.4 Outline of the paper
2	Preliminaries
	2.1 Geometrical setting
	2.2 Well-posedness of the obstacle problem
	Proof of Theorem 1.3
4	A one-sided variational inequality and related open problems
D.	afaranaag

Annalaura Rebucci annalaura.rebucci@mis.mpg.de

Published online: 14 March 2024

Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in the Sciences, Inselstraße 22, 04103 Leipzig, Germany



Francesca Anceschi f.anceschi@staff.univpm.it

Dipartimento di Ingegneria Industriale e Scienze Matematiche, Università Politecnica delle Marche, Via Brecce Bianche 12, 60131 Ancona, Italy

1 Introduction

This work is devoted to the study of the obstacle problem associated to the following Kolmogorov-Fokker-Planck operator

$$\mathcal{L}u(v,x,t) = \nabla_v \cdot (A(v,x,t)\nabla_v u(v,x,t)) + v \cdot \nabla_x u(v,x,t) - \partial_t u(v,x,t)$$

=: $\nabla_v \cdot (A(v,x,t)\nabla_v u(v,x,t)) + Yu(v,x,t),$ (1.1)

where $(v, x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1}$ and the diffusion matrix A satisfies the following assumption:

(H) $A(v, x, t) = (a_{ij}(v, x, t))_{ij}$ is a bounded $d \times d$ matrix made of real measurable coefficients and such that $a_{ij} = a_{ji}$ for every i, j = 1, ..., d. Moreover, there exists two positive constants λ and Λ such that

$$\lambda |\xi|^2 \le (A\xi) \cdot \xi \le \Lambda |\xi|^2 \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
 (1.2)

Assumption (H) is usually referred to as ellipticity condition. In particular, the left-hand side of inequality (1.2) ensures coercivity of the functionals J and \mathscr{J} defined below in (3.2) and (3.5), respectively, providing us with a fundamental ingredient for our proof. Moreover, it is responsible of the degenerate nature of the Kolmogorov–Fokker–Planck operator \mathscr{L} , for which the diffusion only happens in the velocity variables, i.e. the first d directions.

1.1 Motivation and background

The Kolmogorov–Fokker–Planck operator \mathcal{K} with constant coefficient

$$\mathcal{K}u(v,x,t) = \Delta_v u(v,x,t) + v \cdot \nabla_x u(v,x,t) - \partial_t u(v,x,t), \quad (v,x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1},$$

was firstly introduced by Kolmogorov in [22] as a fundamental ingredient for the study of the density of d particles of gas in the phase space. Later on, \mathcal{K} was considered by Hörmander in [19] as a prototype for the family of hypoelliptic operators of type 2, i.e. the ones which can be written as a sum of squares plus a drift term $\sum_{i=1}^{d} X_i^2 + X_0$, where X_i is a smooth vector field for every $i = 0, \ldots, d$, and for this reason we usually refer to

$$Yu(v,x,t) := v \cdot \nabla_x u(v,x,t) - \partial_t u(v,x,t), \qquad (v,x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1},$$

as drift, or transport term. This immediately suggested that \mathscr{K} is a hypoelliptic operator because it satisfies Hörmander's rank condition, meaning every solution to $\mathscr{K}u=f$ on a bounded open domain $\Omega\subset\mathbb{R}^{2d+1}$ is smooth whenever $f\in C^\infty(\Omega)$. Thus, \mathscr{K} possesses strong regularizing properties.

As it will be clear in the following, operator \mathcal{L} arises in various applications starting from the kinetic theory of gas, f. i. [32], and the financial market modeling, f.i. [2, 29]. On the other hand, from the purely analytical point of view, \mathcal{L} is a prototype for the family of second order ultraprabolic partial differential operators of Kolmogorov type defined as

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{m_0} \partial_{x_i} \left(a_{ij}(x,t) \partial_{x_j} u(x,t) \right) + \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} b_{ij} x_j \partial_{x_i} u(x,t) - \partial_t u(x,t), \qquad (x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1},$$

$$(1.3)$$

on Lie groups, see f. i. [23]. On one hand, when the matrix A is made of constant, or Hölder continuous coefficients, we deal with classical solutions. In this setting, Schauder estimates [25, 30], well-posedness results for the Dirichlet [25] and the Cauchy problem [11], alongside



with other results were proved by many authors over the years. For further information on this subject we refer the reader to [3] and the references therein.

On the other hand, when the matrix A is made of measurable coefficients we have to tackle with weak solutions. The extension of the De Giorgi-Nash-Moser regularity theory to this setting had been an open problem for decades recently resolved both in the kinetic and ultraparabolic setting, with various contributions among which we recall [15–17] and [4], respectively. As far as we are concerned with well-posedness results for boundary value problems in the weak setting, there are recent results regarding existence and uniqueness of the solution for the Dirichlet problem [24], existence of a weak fundamental solution for the weak Cauchy problem [5], and finally C^{α} regularity estimates up to the boundary [31, 33]. It is in this weak framework that we aim to address the study of the weak obstacle problem by means of variational methods, a topic which presents many interesting open problems that we discuss in Sect. 4.

Obstacle problems are not only fascinating for theoretical purposes, but also for their applications in research areas as diverse as physics, biology and stochastic theory. We here focus on their connection to mathematical finance and in particular to the problem of determining the arbitrage-free price of American-style options. To be more precise, we consider a financial model where the time evolution of the state variables is described by the 2d-dimensional diffusion process $X = (V_t^x, X_t^x)$ solving the stochastic differential equation

$$\begin{cases} dV_t^x = \sqrt{2} dW_t, \\ dX_t^x = V_t^x dt, \end{cases} \text{ and } X_{t_0}^{t_0, x} = x,$$
 (1.4)

where $(x, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d} \times [0, T]$ and W_t denotes a d-dimensional Wiener process.

We recall that an American option with pay-off ψ is a contract which grants the holder the right to receive the payment of the sum $\psi(X_t)$ at a time $t \in [0, T]$, which is chosen by the holder. Then, in virtue of the classical arbitrage theory (see, for instance [29]), the fair price at the initial time 0 of the American option, assuming the risk-free interest rate is zero, is given by the following optimal stopping problem

$$u(x,t) = \sup_{\tau \in [t,T]} E\left[\psi\left(X_{\tau}^{t,x}\right)\right],\tag{1.5}$$

where the supremum is taken over all stopping times $\tau \in [t, T]$ of X. In [28], it is proved that the function u in (1.5) is a solution to the obstacle problem

$$\begin{cases}
\max\{\mathcal{L}u - f, \psi - u\} & (v, x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d} \times [0, T] \\
u(v, x, t) = g & (v, x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d} \times \{0\},
\end{cases}$$
(1.6)

where the obstacle ψ corresponds to the pay-off of the option and it is a Lipschitz continuous function in $\overline{\Omega}$ satisfying the following condition: there exists a constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} \xi_i \xi_j \partial_{x_i x_j} \psi \ge c |\xi|^2, \quad \text{in } \Omega, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$$
(1.7)

in the distributional sense.

In the uniformly parabolic case, i.e. when d = N, the evaluation of American options was studied starting from the article [8], where a probabilistic approach was employed, and later on developed in the paper [20] considering a variational approach.

Furthermore, the investigation of problem (1.6) is motivated by the fact that there are significant classes of American options whose corresponding diffusion process X is associ-



ated to Kolmogorov-type operators which are not uniformly parabolic and are of the kind (1.1). Two such examples are given by American style options (c.f. [6]) and by the American options priced in the stochastic volatility introduced in the article [18].

In virtue of its importance in finance, the mathematical study of the obstacle problem (1.6) was already initiated in the papers [12, 14, 27]. Specifically, the main result of [12] is the existence of a strong solution to problem (1.6) in certain bounded cylindrical domains and in the strips $\mathbb{R}^{2d} \times [0, T]$ through the adaptation of a classical penalization technique. On the other hand, the main purpose of papers [14, 27] is to prove some new regularity results for solutions to (1.6). In particular, [14] concerns the optimal interior regularity for solutions to the problem (1.6), while [27] contains new results regarding the regularity near the initial state for solutions to the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem and to (1.6).

However, in the aforementioned papers [12, 14, 27], the authors could only deal with strong solutions and continuous obstacles satisfying condition (1.7). For this reason, the main purpose of this paper is to improve the results contained in [12, 14, 27, 28] by studying the obstacle problem (1.6) in a more general and natural setting, i.e. by considering weak solutions to (1.1) in the functional space \mathcal{W} . Furthermore, in a standard manner (see [21, Chapter 6]), we assume that the obstacle ψ and the boundary data g inherit the same regularity of the function u, namely $\psi \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and $g \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. In comparison with [12, 14, 27, 28], we also weaken the regularity assumptions on the right-hand side by considering $f \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ and by considering the following more general obstacle problem

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L}u(v,x,t) = f(v,x,t) & (v,x,t) \in \Omega \\ u(v,x,t) \ge \psi(v,x,t) & (v,x,t) \in \Omega \\ u(v,x,t) = g & (v,x,t) \in \partial_K \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

where the boundary condition needs to be considered as attained in the sense of traces, the obstacle condition holds in $W(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and

$$\psi \le g \text{ on } \partial_K(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) \text{ in } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}),$$
 (1.9)

an ordering relation whose meaning will be clarified in Sect. 2. Another motivation behind our studies is to pursue the variational analysis of Kolmogorov-type operators. In particular, with this work we aim at initiating the study of the obstacle problem (1.8) in the framework of Calculus of Variations, in order to take advantage of the rich toolbox provided by such theory when it comes to investigating weak solutions and less regular obstacles.

A first step towards this direction was already taken in [1, 4, 24], where the natural functional setting for the variational study of degenerate Kolmogorov equations was identified and subsequently characterized. This leads back to finding the right variational formulation and the right functional associated to Kolmogorov-type equations. More precisely, following [1], we rewrite the problem of finding a solution to (1.8) as that of finding a null minimizer of the functional

$$\inf \left\{ \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_v u - \beth \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_v u - \beth \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \, : \, \nabla_v \cdot \left(A \beth \right) = f - Yu \right\}. \tag{1.10}$$

It is clear that the infimum in (1.10) is non-negative and that, given a solution u to (1.8), if we choose $\mathbb{I} = \nabla_v u$, then (1.10) vanishes at u. Moreover, it is easy to show that the functional in (1.10) is uniformly convex and attains its minimum at zero. Finally, we remark that the functional justifies the definition of functional kinetic space given in (1.12).



1.2 Functional setting

In order to present our main results, we first need to introduce some further notation regarding both the domain and the functional setting we are considering from now on in this work. First of all, let $\Omega := \Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$ be a subset of \mathbb{R}^{2d+1} such that

(D) $\Omega_v \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\Omega_{xt} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ is a bounded domain with $C^{1,1}$ -boundary, i.e. $C^{1,1}$ -smooth with respect to the transport operator Y as well as t.

Then, if we denote by N the outer normal to Ω_{xt} , we are able to classically define the Kolmogorov boundary of the set Ω as

$$\partial_{K}(\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}) := (\partial \Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}) \cup \left\{ (v, x, t) \in \overline{\Omega}_{v} \times \partial \Omega_{xt} \mid (v, -1) \cdot N_{xt} > 0 \right\},$$

$$(1.11)$$

which serves in the context of the operator \mathcal{L} as the natural hypoelliptic counterpart of the parabolic boundary considered in the context of Cauchy-Dirichlet problems for uniformly parabolic equations. Notice that the Kolmogorov boundary is well defined on the domain $\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$, since we assume enough regularity on the boundary of Ω_{xt} to ensure the existence of the normal N_{xt} .

Secondly, let us denote by $H^1(\Omega_v)$ the Sobolev space in the velocity variable, i.e. the space of functions whose distributional gradient in Ω_v lies in $(L^2(\Omega_v))^d$ that is

$$H^{1}(\Omega_{v}) := \left\{ h \in L^{2}(\Omega_{v}) : \nabla_{v} h \in \left(L^{2}(\Omega_{v})\right)^{d} \right\}. \tag{1.12}$$

Moreover, we set the norm associated to the space $H^1(\Omega_v)$ as

$$||h||_{H^1(\Omega_v)} := ||h||_{L^2(\Omega_v)} + ||\nabla_v h||_{L^2(\Omega_v)}, \quad \forall h \in H^1(\Omega_v),$$

where by abuse of notation $\|\nabla_v h\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}$ is the vectorial norm of the gradient. Then, following the classical approach, we let $H^1_c(\Omega_v)$ denote the closure of $C_c^\infty(\Omega_v)$ in the norm of $H^1(\Omega_v)$ and we recall that $C_c^\infty(\overline{\Omega}_v)$ is dense in $H^1(\Omega_v)$ given that Ω_v is a Lipschitz domain by assumption. This means we can define equivalently $H^1(\Omega_v)$ as the closure of $C_c^\infty(\overline{\Omega}_v)$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H^1(\Omega_v)}$. Since $H^1_c(\Omega_v)$ is a Hilbert space, then it is reflexive, meaning

$$(H_c^1(\Omega_v))^* = H^{-1}(\Omega_v)$$
 and $(H^{-1}(\Omega_v))^* = H_c^1(\Omega_v)$,

where $(\cdot)^*$ denotes the dual of the space. Hence, from now on we denote by $H^{-1}(\Omega_v)$ the dual to $H_c^1(\Omega_v)$ acting on functions in $H_c^1(\Omega_v)$ through the duality pairing

$$\langle \, \cdot \, | \, \cdot \, \rangle := \langle \, \cdot \, | \, \cdot \, \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega_v), H^1_c(\Omega_v)}.$$

Now, following the approach proposed in [24], we define the Kolmogorov Sobolev space $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ as the closure of $C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v})$ in the norm

$$\|w\|_{\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{xt}\times\Omega_v)}:=\|w\|_{L^2(\Omega_{xt},H^1(\Omega_v))}+\|Yu\|_{L^2(\Omega_{xt},H^{-1}(\Omega_v))}$$

$$:= \left(\iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \|w(\cdot, x, t)\|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{v})}^{2} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \|Yu(\cdot, x, t)\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega_{v})}^{2} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

We recall that in [1] the authors prove that $C_c^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v})$ is dense in the space

$$\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{xt}\times\Omega_v)=\left\{w\in L^2(\Omega_{xt},H^1(\Omega_v)):\,Yw\in L^2(\Omega_{xt},H^{-1}(\Omega_v))\right\}.$$



Hence, we could also consider this equivalent definition for the Kolmogorov Sobolev space. Furthermore, we consider that $L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ is such that

$$L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v)) = \left(L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1_c(\Omega_v))\right)^*.$$

Lastly, if we consider again $\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v$ under the assumption (D), then we denote by $\partial(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$ its topological boundary and by $\partial_K(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$ its Kolmogorov boundary as defined in (1.11), where $\partial_K(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v) \subset \partial(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$. Hence we denote by $C_{0,K}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt}} \times \overline{\Omega_v})$ the set of functions $C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt}} \times \overline{\Omega_v})$ vanishing on $\partial_K(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$. Additionally, we denote by $\mathcal{W}_0(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$ the closure in the norm $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)$ of $C_{0,K}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt}} \times \overline{\Omega_v})$.

We conclude this subsection recalling the following Poincarè inequality for functions in $L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^1(\Omega_v))$ (see [24, Lemma 2.2]).

Lemma 1.1 There exists a constant $1 \le C < +\infty$, which depends only on d and Ω_v , such that

$$||u||_{L^2(\Omega_{vt},L^2(\Omega_v))} \le C||\nabla_v u||_{L^2(\Omega_{vt},L^2(\Omega_v))}$$

for every $u \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^1(\Omega_v))$.

1.3 Main results

As previously pointed out, our aim is to study the well-posedness theory for weak solutions to the obstacle problem (1.8) under assumption (H) on a domain Ω satisfying assumption (D). Given the notation introduced in the previous subsection, we are in a position to properly formalize the definition of weak solution to (1.8) considered in this work.

Definition 1.2 We say u is a weak solution to (1.8) if

$$u \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}), \quad u \in g + \mathcal{W}_0(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}), \quad u > \psi \text{ in } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$$

and such that

$$0 = \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_v u \cdot \nabla_v \phi \, dv \, dx \, dt + \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f(\cdot, x, t) - Yu(\cdot, x, t) | \phi(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt$$
(1.13)

for every $\phi \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1_c(\Omega_v))$ and where $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ is the standard duality pairing in $H^{-1}(\Omega_v)$.

As it also happens in the parabolic setting, a weak solution to $\mathcal{L}u = 0$ in the sense of the above definition is also a weak solution in the sense of distributions. Indeed, whenever $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ we have

$$0 = \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{vr}} (A(v, x, t) \nabla_v u \cdot \nabla_v \phi + u Y \phi) \, dv \, dx \, dt.$$

We are now in a position to state our main result.

Theorem 1.3 Let assumptions (H) and (D) hold. Let $f \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ and $g, \psi \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. Then there exists a unique weak solution $u \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ in the sense of Definition 1.2 to the obstacle problem (1.8). Moreover, there exists a constant C, which only depends on d and on $\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$, such that

$$||u||_{\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)} \le C \left(||g||_{\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v)} + ||f||_{L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))} \right). \tag{1.14}$$



1.4 Outline of the paper

This work is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we discuss the non-Euclidean geometrical setting suitable for the study of operator \mathcal{L} , then we provide the reader with a characterization of non-negative functions and of the maximum between two functions in the space \mathcal{W} . Section 3 is devoted to the proof of our main result, Theorem 1.3. Finally, Sect. 4 concludes this work and contains the proof of a one-sided associated variational inequality, alongside with an overview on related open problems.

2 Preliminaries

2.1 Geometrical setting

As firstly pointed out by Lanconelli and Polidoro in [23], a Lie group structure is the most suitable geometrical setting for studying operator \mathcal{L} . Hence, we endow \mathbb{R}^{2d+1} with the noncommutative group law

$$z_0 \circ z = (v_0 + v, x_0 + x + tv_0, t_0 + t), \quad \forall z_0 = (v_0, x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1},$$

also known as Galilean change of variables. Then $\mathbb{G} := (\mathbb{R}^{2d+1}, \circ)$ is a Lie group with identity element e := (0, 0, 0) and inverse defined by

$$z^{-1} := (-v, -x + tv, -t),$$
 $\forall z = (v, x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1}.$

We observe that \mathscr{K} is left invariant with respect to the group operation \circ . Specifically, if $w(v,x,t)=u(v_0+v,x_0+x+tv_0,t_0+t)$ and $g(v,x,t)=f(v_0+v,x_0+x+tv_0,t_0+t)$, then

$$\mathcal{K}u = f \iff \mathcal{K}w = g \text{ for every } (v_0, x_0, t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m+1}.$$

Moreover, we are also allowed to introduce a family of dilations

$$\delta_r(z) = (rv, r^3x, r^2t), \quad \forall r > 0, \ \forall z = (v, x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d+1}.$$

with respect to which the operator \mathcal{K} is invariant. Indeed, if u is a solution to $\mathcal{K}u=0$, then for every r>0 the scaled function $u_r(z)=u(\delta_r(z))$ satisfies the same equation in a suitably rescaled domain. Hence, we say \mathcal{K} is homogeneous of degree 2 with respect to the dilation group $\{\delta_r\}_{r>0}$.

2.2 Well-posedness of the obstacle problem

First of all, by paralleling the definition of a non-negative function in H^1 [21, Definition 5.1] we introduce the definition of non-negative function in the sense of $W(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$.

Definition 2.1 Let $w \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and $E \subset \overline{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}}$ The function w is non-negative on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, if there exists a sequence $w_n \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ such that

$$w_n \ge 0 \text{ in } E \text{ and } w_n \to w \text{ in } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}).$$

If $-w \ge 0$ on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, then w is said to be non-positive on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. If w is both $w \ge 0$ and $w \le 0$ on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, then w = 0 on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$.



Similarly, for any $w, z \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ we say $w \leq z$ on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ if $w - z \geq 0$ on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. In particular, z may be constant. Hence, we are able to introduce the definition

$$\sup_{E} w = \inf \{ M \in \mathbb{R} : w \le M \text{ on } E \text{ in the sense of } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) \},$$

and analogously of

$$\inf_{E} w = \sup \{ m \in \mathbb{R} : w \ge m \text{ on } E \text{ in the sense of } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) \}.$$

Now, we prove an explicit characterization for non-negative functions on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. This result plays an important role in our analysis, since it allows us to define the set \mathbb{K}_{ψ} in (3.1), which is the starting point of our variational analysis for the obstacle problem.

Lemma 2.2 Let $w \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and $E \subset \overline{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}}$ be bounded. Then $w \geq 0$ on E in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, if and only if $w \geq 0$ on E a.e.

Proof The right implication trivially follows by considering that $w \ge 0$ in the sense of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ implies $w \ge 0$ also in the sense of $L^2(\Omega_v, L^2(\Omega_{xt}))$; and hence a.e.

As far as we are concerned with the left implication, given our definition of $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, there exists a sequence of functions $w_n \in C_{0,K}^{\infty}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ such that $w_n \to w$ in $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and in $\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$ pointwise a.e. Hence, $\max(w_n, 0) \ge 0$ and $w = \max(w, 0)$ in $\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$ a.e. So, we have

$$\| \max(w_n, 0) - w \|_{L^2(\Omega_v, L^2(\Omega_{xt}))} = \| \max(w_n, 0) - \max(w, 0) \|_{L^2(\Omega_v, L^2(\Omega_{xt}))}$$

$$\leq \| w_n - w \|_{L^2(\Omega_v, L^2(\Omega_{xt}))} \to 0 \quad \text{in } L^2(\Omega_v, L^2(\Omega_{xt})) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

From this, it follows

$$\iiint_{\Omega_{\nu} \times \Omega_{xt}} \max(w_n, 0)^2 dv dx dt \leq \iiint_{\Omega_{\nu} \times \Omega_{xt}} w_n^2 dv dx dt \leq C.$$

Hence, the sequence $\max(w_n, 0)$ has a subsequence that converges weakly in $\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ to a certain element, that needs to be w considering the previous computations. Hence, by Mazur's lemma, we conclude the proof.

Finally, taking into consideration the results above and the Hölder regularity results for weak solution to $\mathcal{L}u = f$ proved in [4, 16, 17, 31, 33] (see Sect. 1), the ordering relation between the obstacle and the boundary data introduced in (1.9) is well-posed and classically justified as in [10, Chapter 10] by applying the classical maximum principle proved in [9]. Hence, the obstacle problem (1.8) is well-posed.

3 Proof of Theorem 1.3

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.3 via an adaptation of the method proposed in [24] to address the study of a Dirichlet problem.

Throghout this section, we consider a fixed obstacle $\psi \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, right-hand side $f \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ and boundary data $g \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$. Then, we introduce the set:

$$\mathbb{K}(\psi, g) := \{ w \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) : w \in g + \mathcal{W}_0(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}), w \geq \psi \text{ in } \Omega \text{ in } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) \}.$$
(3.1)



Then we note it is not empty, as $\psi \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$. Moreover, $\mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ is a convex set and, thanks to Lemma 2.2, $w \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ if and only if

$$w \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}), \ w \in g + \mathcal{W}_0(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}), \ \text{and} \ w \geq \psi \text{ a.e. in } \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}).$$

Now, for every pair of functions (w, f) such that

$$w \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1(\Omega_v))$$
 and $f - Yw \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v)),$

we may introduce a functional J defined as

$$J[w, f] = \inf_{G(w, f)} \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{vt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_v w - \mathbb{I} \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_v w - \mathbb{I} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{3.2}$$

where the infimum is taken over the set

$$G(w, f) = \left\{ \mathbb{I} \in (L^2(\Omega_{xt}, L^2(\Omega_v))^d : \nabla_v \cdot (A\mathbb{I}) = f - Yw \right\}. \tag{3.3}$$

The functional J is well-defined, since we are interested in solutions to (1.8), where $f \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ and $\psi, g \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ are fixed by the problem. Moreover, we highlight that the condition each \mathbb{J} in G(w, f) needs to satisfy is intended in the sense of distributions, i.e.

$$- \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{vt}} A \mathbb{I} \cdot \nabla_{v} \phi \, dv \, dx \, dt = \iint_{\Omega_{vt}} \langle (f - Yw)(\cdot, x, t) | \phi(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dx \, dt \quad \forall \phi \in L^{2} \left(\Omega_{xt}, H^{1}(\Omega_{v}) \right),$$

where $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ is the standard duality pairing in $H^{-1}(\Omega_v)$.

Then, we are in a position to prove the one-to-one correspondence between the solution of the obstacle problem and the (zero) minimizer of the functional J. Note that an analogous equivalence result for the Dirichlet problem was proved in [24, Lemma 3.3].

Lemma 3.1 Let assumptions (H) and (D) hold. Let $f \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1(\Omega_v))$, $\psi, g \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ be fixed by the problem (1.8). Then $u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ is a solution to (1.8) if and only if

$$0 = J[u, f] = \min_{w \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)} J[w, f].$$

Proof The proof of this equivalence result relies on the observation that, since A satisfies the ellipticity assumption (H), then $J[w, f] \ge 0$ for every $w \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ and therefore we need to prove that

u is a weak solution to (1.8)
$$\iff$$
 $J[u, f] = 0$.

 (\Longrightarrow) Let $u \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ be a solution to (1.8), then our aim is to show J[u, f] = 0. Notice that by definition (3.2) we have

$$J[u, f] = \inf_{G(u, f)} \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{vt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_v u - \mathbb{I} \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_v u - \mathbb{I} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

where G(u, f) is defined as in (3.3). Given that u is a solution to (1.8) by assumption, then the infimum in (3.2) is attained at $\mathbb{I} = \nabla_v u$. Hence, J[u, f] = 0.

(\iff) Let $u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ be such that J[u, f] = 0, then our aim is to show u is a solution to (1.8). Given our assumptions, we have

$$0 = J[u, f] = \inf_{G(u, f)} \iiint_{\Omega_{u} \times \Omega_{vt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_{v} u - \mathbb{I} \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_{v} u - \mathbb{I} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t,$$



hence $\mathbb{I} = \nabla_v u$ a.e. in $\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}$, as the integrand is non-negative. Finally, given the definition of \mathbb{I} in (3.3), we conclude

$$\iiint\limits_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A \nabla_{v} u \cdot \nabla_{v} \phi \, dv \, dx \, dt = \iiint\limits_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} f \phi \, dv \, dx \, dt - \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Y u(\cdot, x, t) | \phi(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt$$

for every $\phi \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1(\Omega_v))$. Hence, u is by definition a solution to (1.8).

Hence, in order to prove Theorem 1.3 we reduce ourselves to show the existence of a (zero) minimizer for J.

Now, let us consider problem (1.8) and, given the data f, the obstacle ψ and the boundary data g, we introduce the set of pairs of functions satisfying it:

$$\mathscr{A}(f, \psi, g) = \left\{ (u, \mathbb{J}) \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g) \times (L^2(\Omega_{xt}, L^2(\Omega_v))^d \mid \nabla_v \cdot (A(v, x, t)\mathbb{J}) = f - Yu \right\}. \tag{3.4}$$

Lemma 3.2 Let $(f, \psi, g) \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v)) \times \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}) \times \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ be fixed. Then the set $\mathscr{A}(f, \psi, g)$ is not empty.

Proof To prove this result, it is sufficient to show there exists at least a pair of functions belonging to $\mathscr{A}(f,\psi,g)$. Our idea is to apply the Lax-Milgram Theorem considering the Hilbert space $H^1_c(\Omega_v)$ and the set $H^{-1}_c(\Omega_v)$ of linear functionals on $H^1_c(\Omega_v)$. Hence, for every $w,\phi\in H^1_c(\Omega_v)$ we introduce the bilinear form

$$b(w,\phi) = \int\limits_{\Omega} A \nabla_v w \cdot \nabla_v \phi \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

We observe that, in virtue of the boundedness of *A* and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, the bilinear form is continuous, i.e.

$$|b(w,\phi)| \le |A| \|\nabla_v w\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2 \|\nabla_v \phi\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2.$$

Now, we need to show the bilinear form b is coercive in $H_c^1(\Omega_v)$. By the ellipticity assumption (H) for the matrix A, we have

$$b(w, w) = \int_{\Omega_v} A \nabla_v w \cdot \nabla_v w \, \mathrm{d}v \ge \lambda \|\nabla_v w\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2.$$

Then, by the Lax-Milgram theorem, for any bounded functional $L \in H_c^{-1}(\Omega_v)$ there exists a unique w such that

$$L(\phi) = b(w, \phi)$$
 in $H_c^{-1}(\Omega_v)$.

Thus, by choosing $\phi = g$ and L = f - Yu, for a.e. fixed $(x, t) \in \Omega_{xt}$ the equation

$$\nabla_v \cdot (A(v, x, t) \nabla_v w(v, x, t)) = f(v, x, t) - Yu(v, x, t)$$

admits a unique solution $w(\cdot) = w(\cdot, x, t) \in H^1_c(\Omega_v)$. In particular, the set $\mathscr A$ is not empty, since at least we have

$$(g, \nabla_v w) \in \mathcal{A}(f, \psi, g).$$



For every $u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ and $\mathbb{I} \in (L^2(\Omega_{xt}, L^2(\Omega_v))^d)$, we now define the functional

$$\mathscr{J}[u, \mathbb{J}] := \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_v u - \mathbb{J} \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_v u - \mathbb{J} \right) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t, \tag{3.5}$$

which is uniformly convex on $\mathscr{A}(f, \psi, g)$, as proved in [24, Lemma 3.2]. As a consequence, there exists a unique minimizing pair $(\widetilde{u}, \widetilde{J}) \in \mathscr{A}(f, \psi, g)$ such that

$$(\widetilde{u}, \widetilde{J}) = \arg \min_{(u, \overline{J}) \in \mathscr{A}(f, \psi, g)} \mathscr{J}[u, \overline{J}]. \tag{3.6}$$

We observe that

$$\min_{(u,\exists)\in\mathscr{A}(f,\psi,g)}\mathscr{J}[u,\exists]=\min_{u\in\mathbb{K}(\psi,g)}J[u,f].$$

Hence, by construction and considering the ellipticity of A, we infer $J[\widetilde{u}, f] \ge 0$. Thus, keeping in mind Lemma 3.1, it is sufficient to show that

$$J[\widetilde{u}, f] \le 0, \tag{3.7}$$

given the unique minimizing pair $(\widetilde{u}, \widetilde{\beth})$ in (3.6) to conclude the proof of the existence and uniqueness part of Theorem 1.3.

To this end, we introduce a perturbed convex minimization problem, defined for every $u^* \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ in terms of the functional

$$\mathcal{G}(u^*) := \inf_{u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, 0)} \left(J[u + g, u^* + f] - \iint_{\Omega_{XI}} \langle u^*(\cdot, x, t) | u(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dx \, dt \right). \tag{3.8}$$

Now, we firstly observe that by definition

$$\mathcal{G}(0) = \inf_{u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, 0)} J[u + g, f] = \inf_{u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)} J[u, f].$$

Thus, the desired inequality (3.7) can be equivalently stated in terms of \mathcal{G} as follows:

$$\mathcal{G}(0) < 0. \tag{3.9}$$

Secondly, by considering (3.5), (3.4) and (3.3), we can rewrite (3.8) as

$$\mathcal{G}(u^*) = \inf_{(u,\mathbb{J}): (u+g,\mathbb{J}) \in \mathscr{A}(f+u^*,\psi,g)} \left(\mathscr{J}[u+g,\mathbb{J}] - \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle u^*(\cdot,x,t) | u(\cdot,x,t) \rangle dx \right),$$

and observe that \mathcal{G} is a convex, locally bounded from above and lower semi-continuous functional on $L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ (see [24, Lemma 3.4]). Then for every $h \in (L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v)))^* = L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^{-1}(\Omega_v))$ we introduce its convex dual \mathcal{G}^* , that is defined as



$$\begin{split} \mathcal{G}^*(h) &:= \sup_{u^* \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))} \left(-\mathcal{G}(u^*) + \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle u^*(\cdot, x, t) | h(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dx \, dt \right) \\ &= \sup_{(u, \mathbb{J}, u^*)} \left\{ - \iiint_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} \frac{1}{2} \left(A \left(\nabla_v (u + g) - \mathbb{J} \right) \right) \cdot \left(\nabla_v (u + g) - \mathbb{J} \right) \, dv \, dx \, dt \right. \\ &+ \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle u^*(\cdot, x, t) | h(\cdot, x, t) + u(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dx \, dt \right\}, \end{split}$$

where $(u, \mathbb{I}, u^*) \in \mathcal{W}_0 \times (L^2(\Omega_{xt}, L^2(\Omega_v))^d \times L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_v))$. Now, if we denote by \mathcal{G}^{**} the bidual of \mathcal{G} , since \mathcal{G} is lower semi-continuous we are in a position to observe that $\mathcal{G}^{**} = \mathcal{G}$, see [13, Lemma I.4.1]. In particular, we have

$$\mathcal{G}(0) = \mathcal{G}^{**}(0) = \sup_{h \in L^2(\Omega_{YL}, H^1_{-}(\Omega_{\nu}))} \left(-\mathcal{G}^*(h) \right).$$

Thus, we can reduce the problem of verifying (3.7), already transformed in (3.9), to prove the convex dual of \mathcal{G} is non-negative, i.e.

$$\mathcal{G}^*(h) \ge 0$$
 for every $h \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^1(\Omega_v))$.

The proof of this fact directly follows as in [24, Lemma 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7], and therefore is omitted.

To conclude the proof of Theorem 1.3, we are left with proving the quantitative estimate (1.14) for a weak solution $u \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ to (1.8). To this end, observing that u - g is a valid test function in Definition 1.2, we get

$$0 = - \iiint\limits_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_{v} u \cdot \nabla_{v} (u - g) \, dv \, dx \, dt - \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f(\cdot, x, t) - Yu(\cdot, x, t) | (u - g)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt.$$

$$(3.10)$$

In particular, adding and subtracting the terms

$$\iiint\limits_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v,x,t) \nabla_v g \cdot \nabla_v (u-g) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \text{and} \quad \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Yg(\cdot,x,t) | (u-g)(\cdot,x,t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t$$

in (3.10), we obtain

$$0 = \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_{v}(u - g) \cdot \nabla_{v}(u - g) \, dv \, dx \, dt + \left[\iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Y(u - g)(\cdot, x, t) | (u - g)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt \right]_{T}$$

$$- \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_{v} g \cdot \nabla_{v}(u - g) \, dv \, dx \, dt - \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f(\cdot, x, t) - Yg(\cdot, x, t) | (u - g)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt.$$

$$(3.11)$$

We now focus on the boxed term T in the previous equality. As $u - g \in \mathcal{W}_0$, by definition of \mathcal{W}_0 , there exists a sequence of functions $h_n \in C_{0,K}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v})$ such that

$$\|(u-g)-h_n\|_{\mathcal{W}}\to 0$$
, as $n\to +\infty$



and in particular

$$||Y((u-g)-h_n)||_{L^2(\Omega_{yt},H^{-1}(\Omega_n))} \to 0$$
, as $n \to +\infty$.

As a consequence, we obtain

$$\iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Y(u-g)(\cdot,x,t)|(u-g)(\cdot,x,t)\rangle \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t \le \limsup_{n\to+\infty} \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Yh_n(\cdot,x,t)|h_n(\cdot,x,t)\rangle \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t.$$
(3.12)

As $h_n \in C_{0,K}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_{xt} \times \Omega_v})$, we can deal with the last integral in (3.12) as follows

$$\begin{split} \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Y h_n(\cdot, x, t) | h_n(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t &= \iiint\limits_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} Y h_n \, h_n \, dv \, dx \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \iiint\limits_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} Y h_n^2 \, dv \, dx \, dt \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \iiint\limits_{\Omega_v \times \partial \Omega_{xt}} h_n^2(v, -1) \cdot N_{xt} \, dv \, d\sigma_{x,t} \leq 0, \end{split}$$

in virtue of the divergence theorem and the definition of the Kolmogorov boundary in (1.11). Hence, we can rewrite equality (3.11) as follows

$$\iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_{v}(u - g) \cdot \nabla_{v}(u - g) \, dv \, dx \, dt$$

$$\leq - \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{vt}} A(v, x, t) \nabla_{v} g \cdot \nabla_{v}(u - g) \, dv \, dx \, dt - \iint_{\Omega_{vt}} \langle f(\cdot, x, t) - Yg(\cdot, x, t) | (u - g)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle \, dx \, dt.$$

Thus, taking advantage of (1.2), we can rewrite the previous inequality as follows

$$\lambda \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \|\nabla_{v}(u-g)(\cdot,x,t)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{v})}^{2} dx dt$$

$$\leq \left| \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A(v,x,t) \nabla_{v} g \cdot \nabla_{v}(u-g) dv dx dt \right| + \left| \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f(\cdot,x,t) - Yg(\cdot,x,t) | (u-g)(\cdot,x,t) \rangle dx dt \right|. \tag{3.13}$$

We now take care of the right-hand side of (3.13) employing the boundedness of A, Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and Young's inequality and we find

$$\begin{split} \lambda \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \|\nabla_v (u-g)(\cdot,x,t)\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t \\ & \leq \frac{|A|}{2\varepsilon} \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \|\nabla_v g(\cdot,x,t)\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \|\nabla_v (u-g)(\cdot,x,t)\|_{L^2(\Omega_v)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t \\ & + \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \|f(\cdot,x,t)\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega_v)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t + \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \|Yg(\cdot,x,t)\|_{H^{-1}(\Omega_v)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}t, \end{split}$$



where $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ is a degree of freedom. Hence, given a suitable choice of ε in the previous inequality, we get

$$\|\nabla_v(u-g)\|_{L^2(\Omega_{xt},L^2(\Omega_v))} \le C \left(\|g\|_{\mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})} + \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega_{xt},H^{-1}(\Omega_v))} \right),$$

where $C = C(d, \varepsilon, \lambda)$ is a positive constant. Then, as $u - g \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^1(\Omega_v))$, we can apply Lemma 1.1 and infer

$$\|u - g\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{Yt}, H^{1}(\Omega_{v}))} \le C \left(\|g\|_{\mathcal{W}(\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{Yt})} + \|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{Yt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_{v}))} \right). \tag{3.14}$$

We now use the definition of weak solution (1.13) against any test function $\phi \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1_c(\Omega_v))$ such that $\|\phi\|_{L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H^1_c(\Omega_v))} = 1$ and, taking advantage once again of the boundedness of A, Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and Young's inequality, we easily obtain

$$||Yu||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_{v}))} \le C\left(||\nabla_{v}u||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{xt}, L^{2}(\Omega_{v}))} + ||f||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{xt}, H^{-1}(\Omega_{v}))}\right). \tag{3.15}$$

Combining inequalities (3.14) and (3.15), we prove the quantitative estimate (1.14) and therefore conclude the proof of Theorem 1.3.

4 A one-sided variational inequality and related open problems

As already pointed out in the introduction of this work, our aim is to give rise to the study of boundary value problems associated to Kolmogorov operators through variational methods, with a particular attention to the obstacle problem.

The results we presented in previous sections are only the starting point for this analysis, since many interesting open problems are left untouched by our work and among which, first and foremost, we recall the proof of a one-on-one correspondence between solutions to (1.8) and solutions to a suitable variational inequality. We observe that the literature concerning evolution equations in the framework of Calculus of Variations is way more recent than the one relevant to elliptic equations, see [7, 26] and the references therein. Moreover, to our knowledge, in our hypoelliptic setting there are not yet available results concerning the relationship between solutions to (1.8) and solutions to a suitable variational inequality. In the present work, we are able to give proof to one of the two implications, i.e. a weak solution to (1.8) is also a solution to a suitable variational inequality. The other implication is still an open problem.

Proposition 4.1 Let us consider ψ , $\varphi \in \mathcal{W}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ and the associated obstacle problem (1.8) under the assumptions (H) and (D). If $u \in \mathcal{W}_{\psi}(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$ is a solution to the obstacle problem (1.8), then it satisfies the following variational inequality

$$\iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Yu(\cdot, x, t) | (w - u)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dx dt + \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A \nabla_{v} u \cdot \nabla_{v} (w - u) dv dx dt$$

$$\geq \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f(\cdot, x, t) | (w - u)(\cdot, x, t) \rangle dv dx dt,$$

for every $w \in L^2(\Omega_{xt}, H_c^1(\Omega_v))$.



Proof Let $u \in \mathbb{K}(\psi, g)$ be a solution to (1.8). Then in particular $u \in \mathcal{W}_{\psi}(\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt})$ and thus w - u is a valid test function in the weak formulation (1.13), i.e.

$$\iiint\limits_{\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt}} \nabla_v \cdot (A \nabla_v u) (w - u) \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle Y u | w - u \rangle \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \iint\limits_{\Omega_{xt}} \langle f | w - u \rangle \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

By the Divergence Theorem in $H^1(\Omega_v \times \Omega_{xt})$, we get

$$\iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} \nabla_{v} \cdot (A \nabla_{v} u) (w - u) dv dx dt$$

$$= - \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A \nabla_{v} u \cdot \nabla_{v} (w - u) dv dx dt + \iint_{\Omega_{xt}} \int_{\partial_{v} (\Omega_{v})} \gamma_{0} (A \nabla_{v} u) \cdot N_{v} (w - u) d\sigma$$

$$\geq - \iiint_{\Omega_{v} \times \Omega_{xt}} A \nabla_{v} u \cdot \nabla_{v} (w - u) dv dx dt$$

where N_v denotes the outer normal with respect to the velocity boundary, γ_0 denotes the trace of the function.

The lack of the equivalence between the obstacle problem and a suitable variational inequality implies we are not allowed to employ tools from Calculus of Variations that are specifically designed for variational inequalities. This means that, for instance, the coincidence set of the obstacle problem is not yet characterized, and even the equivalence between the two formulations (1.6) and (1.8) of it is still missing. In fact, the latter is assumed to be true in the existing literature, see f.i. [27].

Lastly, it is our opinion that an extension of these studies to the more general class of ultraparabolic operators of Kolmogorov type (1.3) with rough coefficients would be of great interest for the community. In order to achieve this, one has to overcome many difficulties, starting with the characterization of the set \mathcal{W} introduced in [4] in this more general setting and the definition of the trace of a function in this framework.

Acknowledgements The authors were supported by the INdAM - GNAMPA project "Variational problems for Kolmogorov equations: long-time analysis and regularity estimates", CUP_E55F22000270001.

Funding Open access funding provided by Università Politecnica delle Marche within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Albritton, D., Armstrong, S., Mourrat, J.-C., Novack, M.: Variational methods for the kinetic Fokker-Planck equation. arXiv:1902.04037 (2021) To appear on Anal. PDE
- Anceschi, F., Muzzioli, S., Polidoro, S.: Existence of a fundamental solution of partial differential equations associated to Asian options. Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 62, 29 (2021)



- Anceschi, F., Polidoro, S.: A survey on the classical theory for Kolmogorov equation. Matematiche 75(1), 221–258 (2020)
- Anceschi, F., Rebucci, A.: A note on the weak regularity theory for degenerate Kolmogorov equations. J. Differ. Equ. 341, 538–588 (2022)
- Anceschi, F., Rebucci, A.: On the fundamental solution for degenerate Kolmogorov equations with rough coefficients. J. Elliptic Parabol. Equ. 9(1), 63–92 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s41808-022-00191-8
- Barucci, E., Polidoro, S., Vespri, V.: Some results on partial differential equations and Asian options. Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 11(03), 475–497 (2001)
- 7. Bögelein, V., Duzaar, F., Mingione, G.: The regularity of general parabolic systems with degenerate diffusion. Memoirs Am. Math. Soc. **221**(1041), 149 (2013)
- 8. Bensoussan, A.: On the theory of option pricing. Acta Appl. Math. 2, 139–158 (1984)
- 9. Bony, J.M.: Principe du maximum, inégalité de Harnack et unicité du problème de Cauchy pour les opérateurs elliptiques dégénérées. Ann. Inst. Fourier 19(1), 277–304 (1969)
- Brezis, H.: Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. Springer, Berlin (2011)
- Di Francesco, M., Pascucci, A.: On a class of degenerate parabolic equations of Kolmogorov type. Appl. Math. Res. Express 2005(3), 116 (2005)
- 12. Di Francesco, M., Pascucci, A., Polidoro, S.: The obstacle problem for a class of hypoelliptic ultraparabolic equations. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 464, 155–176 (2008)
- Ekeland, I., Temam, R.: Convex Analysis and Variational Problems. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-Oxford (1976)
- Frentz, M., Nyström, K., Pascucci, A., Polidoro, S.: Optimal regularity in the obstacle problem for Kolmogorov operators related to American Asian options. Math. Annalen 347(4), 805–838 (2010)
- Golse, F., Imbert, C., Mouhot, C., Vasseur, A.: Harnack inequality for kinetic Fokker-Planck equations with rough coefficients and application to the Landau equation. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super Pisa Cl. Sci. 19(1), 253–295 (2019)
- Guerand, J., Imbert, C.: Log-transform and the Harnack inequality for kinetic Fokker-Planck equations.
 J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 22(6), 2749–2774 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474748022000160
- 17. Guerand, J., Mouhot, C.: Quantitative De Giorgi methods in kinetic theory. (Méthodes à la De Giorgi quantitatives en théorie cinétique.). J. Éc. Polytech. Math. 9, 1159–1181 (2022)
- 18. Hobson, D.G., Rogers, L.C.G.: Complete models with stochastic volatility. Math. Financ. 8, 27–48 (1998)
- 19. Hörmander, L.: Hypoelliptic second order differential equations. Acta Math. 119, 147–171 (1967)
- Jaillet, P., Lamberton, D., Lapeyre, B.: Variational inequalities and the pricing of American options. Acta Appl. Math. 21, 263–289 (1990)
- Kinderlehrer, D., Stampacchia, G.: An introduction to variational inequalities and their applications. Reprint of the 1980 original. Classics in Applied Mathematics. 31. Philadelphia, PA: Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM). xx, 313 p. (2000)
- Kolmogoroff, A.: Zufallige Bewegungen (Zur Theorie der Brownschen Bewegung). Ann. Math. 35(1), 116–117 (1934)
- Lanconelli, E., Polidoro, S.: On a class of hypoelliptic evolution operators. Rend. Semin. Mat. Torino 52(1), 29–63 (1994)
- Litsgard, M., Nyström, K.: The Dirichlet problem for Kolmogorov-Fokker-Planck type equations with rough coefficients. J. Funct. Anal. 281(10), 1–39 (2021)
- Manfredini, M.: The Dirichlet problem for a class of ultraparabolic equations. Adv. Differ. Equ. 2(5), 831–866 (1997)
- Marcellini, P.: A variational approach to parabolic equations under general and p, q-growth conditions. Nonlinear Anal. 194(17), 111456 (2020)
- Nyström, K., Pascucci, A., Polidoro, S.: Regularity near the initial state in the obstacle problem for a class of hypoelliptic ultraparabolic operators. J. Differ. Equ. 249, 2044–2060 (2010)
- Pascucci, A.: Free boundary and optimal stopping problems for American Asian options. Finance Stoch. 12, 21–41 (2008)
- 29. Pascucci, A.: PDE and Martingale Methods in Option Pricing. Springer, Milano (2011)
- 30. Polidoro, S., Rebucci, A., Stroffolini, B.: Schauder type estimates for degenerate Kolmogorov equations with Dini continuous coefficients. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 21(4), 1385–1416 (2022)
- Silvestre, L.: Hölder estimates for kinetic Fokker-Planck equations up to the boundary. Ars Inveniendi Anal. (2022). https://doi.org/10.15781/nqdd-qs03
- 32. Villani, C.: A review of mathematical topics in collisional kinetic theory. In Handbook of Mathematical Fluid Dynamics, Vol. I, pages 71-305. North-Holland, Amsterdam (2002)
- 33. Zhu, Y.: Regularity of kinetic Fokker-Planck equations in bounded domains. arXiv:2206.04536 (2022)



On the obstacle problem associated to the...

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

